
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Regulatory Board 
(Planning)

Members of the Regulatory Board (Planning) of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on 
Wednesday, 2 October 2019 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is 
proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 12)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;



A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

a) 20181111 - 14 Lawrance Square, Northfleet DA11 7HW (Pages 13 - 20)

b) 20190724 - Land west of 16 - 18 Wilberforce Way, Gravesend 
DA12 5DQ

(Pages 21 - 38)

c) 20190725 - Land to the rear of  125 Barr Road, Gravesend DA12 
4DX

(Pages 39 - 56)

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Planning & Development) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
John Burden
Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Brian Sangha

Substitutes: To be notified

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ


1

Regulatory Board (Planning)

Wednesday, 4 September 2019 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
John Burden
Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Brian Sangha
Steve Thompson

Note: Councillors: Lee Croxton, Diane Marsh and Tony Pritchard were also in 
attendance.

Laura Caiels Lawyer (Place) Medway Council
Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning)
Richard McEllistrum Planning Manager (Development Management)
Richard Hart Principal Planner (Major Sites)
Peter price Principal Planner
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

74. Apologies for absence 

An apology was received from Cllr Harold Craske and Cllr Steve Thompson attended as his 
substitute.

75. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2019 were signed by the Chair.

76. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr John Burden declared a voluntary other interest in relation to application 20190372 – 
Land adjacent to 90 Downs Road, Istead Rise, DA13 9HQ in that he lived at the far end of 
Downs Road which was approximately 1 mile away from the application site.

Cllr Jordan Meade declared an other interest in relation to application 20180682 – 
Hevercourt Residential Home, Goodwood Crescent, Gravesend DA12 5EY as he was one of 
the Ward Councillors and he advised that he did not intend to take part in the debate and 
voting on this application.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Regulatory Board (Planning) 4.09.2019

2

Cllr Jordan Meade declared a further other interest in relation to application 20190678 – 2 
Portland Villas, Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 1LQ as he lived within the Windmill Hill 
Conservation Area.

Cllr Bob Lane drew the Board’s attention to that comparison drawn in the Officer’s report 
between an Appeal Decision of a property within the ward of Shorne, Cobham and 
Luddesdown of which he was one of the Ward Councillors and the application 20190678 – 2 
Portland Villas, Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 1LQ.

77. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be considered in 
private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

None.

78. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

78.1 20160215 - Tollgate Hotel, Watling Street, Gravesend DA13 9RA 

Further to the meeting of the Board held on 7 February 2018 when Members considered 
application reference 20160215 for the demolition of all the former Tollgate hotel and 
restaurant and construction of a petrol filling station and forecourts, sales building, ATM, 
underground fuel tanks, refuse/recycling, AC/refrigeration units, vehicular access, 
substation, parking and all associated works and services on part of the site and a decision 
was made to grant planning permission. This decision was also the subject of a legal 
challenge by the owner of the Tollgate Service Station who had brought about the judicial 
review claims in relation to the 2013 planning application as on four grounds as set out in the 
report.

This application had been referred for consideration by the Board because a decision was 
required in relation to an appeal by the applicant against non-determination by the Council.

The Principal Planner advised that, following legal advice taken by the Borough Council, it 
had been consented on 21 June 2018 to quash the decision and for the application to be 
remitted for re-determination, on the single and first ground only that the Council had relied 
upon a comparison between the impacts of the development and the impacts of a resumed 
hotel use actually taking place in the event that the development was not granted planning 
permission and that the Council had accordingly failed to have regard to a material 
consideration. The three other grounds of challenge in the Judicial Review claim were not 
conceded by the Borough Council.

A planning appeal was received by the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) against non-
determination on 20 March 2019 as more than 13 weeks had elapsed following the decision 
to remit the application for re-determination. The planning application would therefore be 
determined by a Planning Inspector (not the Borough Council) and the intention was that the 
appeal would be dealt with by way of an informal hearing. The start date of the planning 
appeal against non-determination had been held in abeyance pending the reporting of the 
appeal to the Board with the expectation that the Borough Council would then be in a 
position to give a clear view on what, if it had been possible, the Council’s decision on the 
appealed planning application would have been.

Page 4



Regulatory Board (Planning) 4.09.2019

3

The Board was given a short summary of the planning history of the site together with a 
description of the proposals contained in the application. The Principal Planner concluded 
that no new information or evidence had been received by the Council and no reply had 
been received with regard to the Advice note sent to the applicant by the Council on 26 July 
2019. Therefore, the report recommended refusal on the grounds set out on pages 31 and 
32 of the report. The Board was advised that their decision would be reported to the 
Planning Inspectorate.

The Board heard the views of the public speaker.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 Support was expressed for the development of the site. However given the 
applicant’s late submission of evidence and lack of clarity it was felt that refusal was 
the correct decision.

 Concern was expressed that the site had been allowed to deteriorate into an 
unsightly mess.

 It was suggested that the ongoing review of the Council’s Local Plan would be a 
good opportunity to resolve Green Belt issues on sites such as this.

Resolved that, having regard to:

- all of the grounds of challenge in the Judicial Review claim brought against 
the Borough Council that resulted in the quashing on 26 June 2018 of the 
decision to grant planning permission on 7 February 2018, and

- the failure of the applicants to respond directly to the Borough Council to 
those grounds of challenge or to the Council’s Advice Note sent to the 
applicants on 26 July 2018 with any additional or revised information, 
documents or plans,

that, if it had been possible to determine the current planning application prior 
to the submission of the appeal against non-determination, the Board would 
have REFUSED to grant planning permission. 

(Cllr Meade requested that his vote in support of the resolution above, be recorded.)

Note: Mr Julian Sutton (an objector) addressed the Board.

78.2 20190451 - 74 Parrock Street, Gravesend DA12 1HF 

Further to the meeting of the Board held on 24 July 2019, the Board considered an 
application reference 20190451 which proposed a change of use to Sui Generis House in 
Multiple Occupation (HMO). At this meeting the determination of the application was 
deferred to enable the applicant to address the Board’s concerns regarding the size of the 
bathrooms and to confirm they would be fit for purpose and to provide further information on 
the adequacy of the kitchen/utility room.

The Planning Manager (Development Management) advised that the ensuite bathrooms had 
been enlarged (with the exception of one) to provide increased space and a kitchen layout 
plan had been provided to demonstrate that the kitchen/diner/ utility room could 
accommodate all the amenities necessary for the proposed number of occupants in line with 
the Council’s Licensing Section’s adopted amenity standards for Houses in Multiple 

Page 5



Regulatory Board (Planning) 4.09.2019

4

Occupation (HMO’s – 2006). The Council’s Private Housing Manager (Licensing) had 
confirmed that the proposed accommodation met the requirements of that department’s 
adopted amenity standards for HMOs for the proposed number of occupants (8) and that 
there was no reason at this time to refuse a licence.

The Board heard the views of the public speaker who then answered a number of Member 
questions.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 It was suggested that the oncoming review of the Local Plan add clarity on the 
minimum sizes of rooms in HMOs as it was considered that for example, a double 
bedroom should be large enough to have a double bed in it and a standard shower 
tray should fit in a shower room.

 It was confirmed that the waste would be collected from the storage area to the rear 
of the property as the alley was accessible by refuse freighters.

 The Board noted that whilst the building was not designed for disabled access, its 
Georgian dimensions were more generous than those of a modern dwelling. 

Resolved that application 20190451 be PERMITTED subject to the planning 
conditions to be detailed in the decision notice issued by the Planning 
Department and made available on the following link: 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning-search.

Note: Mr Kingsley Hughes (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Board.

78.3 20190372 - Land adjacent to 90 Downs Road, Istead Rise, Gravesend DA13 9HQ 

The Board considered an application reference 20190372 which proposed the erection of a 
four bedroom dwelling with associated parking and landscaping at land adjacent to 90 
Downs Road, Istead Rose, Gravesend DA13 9HQ.

The Principal Planner (Major Sites) advised that the proposal was to construct a detached 
dwelling within the side garden of 90 Downs Road within the Green Belt. The application site 
contained a number of trees, lawn and vegetation at the western end of the site. There were 
no buildings or structures within the redline boundary. Relevant appeal decisions and case 
law, as well as the appearance, position, character and setting of the site itself, had been 
taken into account in officers consideration of the extent of the settlement of Istead Rise 
relative to the application site. It had been concluded that the application site lay outside the 
settlement of Istead Rise which for the purposes of the NPPF was considered to be a village 
and the site was located within the Green Belt. There had been no significant changes in 
circumstances since that boundary had been defined. 

The application site was not considered to meet any of the Green Belt exceptions as set out 
in paragraph 145 of the NPPF as it did not form part of the settlement known as Istead Rise 
and the proposal was therefore considered to be ‘inappropriate’ development in the Green 
Belt and no very special circumstances existed to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt. In 
addition there had been four previous refusals for residential development on this site 
ranging from 1980 to 2014 and this recommendation was consistent with the previous four 
refusals.

Page 6

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning-search


Regulatory Board (Planning) 4.09.2019

5

Members’ attention was also drawn to a decision of the Planning Inspectorate in relation to 
an appeal with regard to proposed residential development on Istead Arable Farmlands 
(Willerby Farm), which was 0.5 miles to the north of the application site, the wording for 
which was set out in pages 166 and 167 of the report.

The application was before the Board on the request of Cllr John Burden so that Members 
could consider the proposal in relation to the village boundary.

The Board heard the views of the public speaker who then answered a question from a 
Member.

Members were advised that no representations had been received from members of the 
public in response to the publicity given to the application.

The following points were made during discussion on this item.

 Following a question in relation to the reason for the referral to the Board, Members 
were informed that two former ward Councillors, who each had a great deal of 
experience of the area, had approached the Leader of the Council with their 
concerns.

 Concern was expressed that it would be premature to approve such an application 
before a review of the use of the Green Belt in the Borough.

 Support for the officer’s recommendation was expressed because there was a clear 
boundary to the settlement and the correct decision would set a precedent to 
neighbouring properties.

Resolved that application 20190372 be REFUSED on the grounds of being 
considered to be an ‘inappropriate’ development in the Green Belt and no very 
special circumstances exist to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.

Note: (a) Mr Andrew Wilford (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Board.
(b) Cllr Dakota Dibben spoke with the leave of the Chair.

78.4 20180682 - Hevercourt Residential Care Home, Goodwood Crescent, 
Gravesend DA12 5EY 

Cllr Jordan Meade moved from his chair as a member of the Board and took a seat at the 
Non-Board Members table and, with the exception of representing residents as a ward 
Councillor, took no part in the discussions and voting for this item.

The Board considered an application reference 20190372 which proposed the erection of 
north, south and west wing single storey extensions to existing care home to provide 16 
additional rooms, communal spaces, an increase in parking area and the erection of a new 
entrance canopy at Hevercourt Residential Home, Goodwood Crescent, Gravesend DA12 
5EY.

The Principal Planner advised that the proposal sought to extend the care home with single 
storey extensions to the north, west and south which would focus around two internal 
courtyards and remodelling of the ground floor to provide a total of 27 bedrooms which was 
an increase of 16 bedrooms at ground floor level. Car parking on the site would be increased 
from 24 to 30 spaces. The Kent County Council accommodation strategy for social care 

Page 7



Regulatory Board (Planning) 4.09.2019

6

projects that by 2021 Gravesham requires an additional capacity of 56 residential dementia 
care units and this proposal would go

Towards meeting this required need. The design was deemed acceptable and the proposal 
would not have an adverse impact on the amenity of surrounding properties as the 
extensions were single storey and there was no conflict with local or national planning 
policies. The proposal was deemed to comply with local and national planning policy and, 
subject to the planning conditions as set out in this report, permission was recommended.

The application was before the Board at the request of Cllr Jordan Meade and Cllr Gurjit 
Bains due to concern regarding the impact on surrounding properties.

Members were advised the application had been advertised with an article 13 site notice and 
letters had been sent to 89 surrounding properties. Three rounds of consultation had been 
undertaken with the latest closing on 18 July 2019. As a result of this a total of 46 letters had 
been received. It was noted that 44 of the letters of objection had been the same letter 
signed by different residents. A summary of the material planning considerations raised in 
the responses were set out in the report.

The Board heard the views of the public speakers who answered questions from Members.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 The Board noted that 11 trees would be felled during the development of the 
application. Members were advised that, if the application was permitted, then a 
condition would be included for the replacement of these trees using semi-mature 
specimens.

 The soft landscaping in the proposed courtyards would include low planters, small 
shrubs, benches for residents to sit on and the small tree in one of the courtyards 
would be retained. It was noted that the care home was dementia specific and the 
courtyards would be designed to benefit the lives of the residents and would provide 
places to sit in the sun or shade and talk to friends and family.

 The walls surrounding the courtyards would be 60% glazed so the care staff could 
see residents when they were outside. The glass walls would also improve the 
openness of the indoor areas of the property. The remaining 40% if solid walls would 
be for the display of pictures that might remind residents of their lives such as red 
London buses etc. The energy calculations also drove the 60/40 split between glass 
and solid walls.

 The entrance to the care home would be improved and people entering the building 
would be able to see the main courtyard through the proposed glass walls. 

 The Board was advised that the area needed additional accommodation of this kind. 
Kent County Council accommodation strategy for social care projects that by 2021 
Gravesham would require an additional capacity of 56 residential dementia care 
units. This proposal would go directly to meeting this required need.

 Concern was raised about the scale and importance of the development and the 
impact on neighbouring properties from and noise nuisance and parking perspective. 
Noise nuisance had been experienced by neighbours who had not complained to the 
Council. The proposed development would mean the building would be closer to 
residences and a site visit was requested.

 The Board was advised that the nearest residential properties were between 15.5 
metres and 21 metres from the proposed extension to the care home.

Page 8



Regulatory Board (Planning) 4.09.2019

7

 The need for more quality accommodation for the elderly was recognised as was the 
need for more day care. 

 Members recognised the need for increased care provision and the need for 
profitability. The proposals would also create 12 new jobs, would improve facilities 
and the owner of the facility was encourage to engage with the local community.

Resolved that application reference 20180682 be PERMITTED subject to the 
planning conditions to be detailed in the decision notice issued by the 
Planning Department and made available on the following link: 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning-search.

Note: (a) Mr Stephen Gilmour (a supporter) addressed the Board.
(b) Mr Timothy Ball (Architect)(a supporter) addressed the Board.
(c) Mr Nick Riley (an objector) addressed the Board.
(d) Cllr Tony Pritchard spoke with the leave of the Chair.
(e) Cllr Jordan Meade spoke with the leave of the Chair.

78.5 20190678 - 2 Portland Villas, Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 1LQ 

The Board considered an application reference 20190678 for the retention of the uPVC 
casement windows at first floor level and replacement of uPVC sash windows with uPVC 
casement windows at second floor level on the front elevation at 2 Portland Villas, Windmill 
Street, Gravesend DA12 1LQ.

The Planning Manager (Development Management) advised that the application proposed 
the retention of recently installed front uPVC windows at first floor level and to replace the 
existing slim-line sash uPVC windows at second floor level with thicker framed tilting uPVC. 
Whilst the Conservation Area exhibited a limited number of examples of unsympathetic and 
uncharacteristic uPVC windows, which had generally been installed without the benefit of 
planning permission, the proposed windows would serve to present a further diminution of 
the quality of character and appearance, and would not preserve or enhance the 
Conservation Area in which they were located. The development would therefore conflict 
with the objectives of Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994, Policies 
CS19 and CS20 of the Core Strategy 2014 and paragraph 192 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2019. As such it was considered that this planning application should not 
be supported. The Planning Manager (Development Management) displayed a range of 
photographs of all buildings on the north and south side of Windmill Street. It was noted that 
most of the replacement windows, whether they were sympathetic or otherwise had been 
installed without the benefit of planning permission. The cumulative effect of the 
unsympathetic changes to the buildings was considered to be eating away at the quality of 
buildings in the Conservation Area.

The application had been referred for consideration by the Board by Cllr Steve Thompson.

The Board heard the views of the public speaker who answered questions from Members.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 The Board noted that the applicant was unaware that the property was within a 
Conservation Area and was the subject of an Article 4 Direction. uPVC replacement 
windows had been installed in the ground floor windows before the applicant bought 
the property.

Page 9

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning-search


Regulatory Board (Planning) 4.09.2019

8

 Members were advised that many residents were unaware that their properties were 
within the Windhill Hill Conservation Area. The local search would include this 
information and the buyer’s solicitors should pass this onto their clients. Some 
surprised was expressed as many estate agents used the fact that the property was 
within a Conservation Area as a selling point.

 Some Members considered that uPVC windows did not detract or cause harm to the 
Conservation Area it they were sympathetic in design (faithful fenestration) and 
correctly installed. 

 The Board was advised that the replacement windows in this property had only come 
to the Council’s notice when planning officers visited as a result of a planning 
application for the installation of a driveway. 

 A consideration was put forward that whilst Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings 
should be protected, the progression of technology and changing manufacturing 
techniques also meant that the a sympathetic, in character  effect could be achieved 
using different materials to those originally used.

 It was suggested that the applicant be allowed to keep the replacement windows in 
the bay window on the first floor and the decision on the replacement of the bay 
window on the second floor ne deferred to allow the applicant to consult with the 
appropriate Council officers with regard to a more sympathetic sash design.

 Some concern was expressed with regard to the suggested use of uPVC as wooden 
frames had been used in the original build of the Villas and some Members felt that 
owners should be encouraged to return to what had been installed with the property 
was first built..

 A suggestion was made that the existence and associated restrictions of 
Conservations Areas including Article 4 Directions be highlighted by way of an article 
in “Your Borough”. 

 Members were reminded of a previous meeting of the Board in May 2019 when the 
Board was advised although the Council’s Conservation officer preferred timber 
replacement windows of suitably designed proportions, the officer accepted the 
uPVC could also be used in a sympathetic way.

Resolved that application 20190678 be DEFERRED to a future meeting of the 
Board to enable negotiations to take place in relation to the replacement of the 
existing uPVC sash windows on the second floor bay between Council’s 
Planning Manager (Development Management) and Conservation Officer and 
the applicant and/or applicant’s agent to address the Board’s concerns with 
regard to the design of the proposed upper floor bay windows.

Note: Ms Han Ebcin (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Board.

79. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Housing & Regeneration) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Planning & Development) 
under delegated powers had been published on the Council’s website.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 10.00 pm

Page 10



Regulatory Board (Planning) 4.09.2019

9

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20181111

Site Address: 14 Lawrance Square, Northfleet, Gravesend, Kent, DA11 7HW.

Application 
Description: Continued use as beauty salon (Sui Generis).

Applicant: Gravesham Borough Council (Property Services)

Agent: N/A

Ward: Coldharbour

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: 4th October 2019

Publicity Expiry Date: 15th November 2018

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board –2nd October 2019

Reason for referral: The Local Planning Authority is the applicant

Recommendation: Permission  

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

The proposal is for the continued use of 14 Lawrance Square as a beauty salon (Sui Generis use) 
which opened in February 2019.

The application site was in use as a sports clinic (D1 use class) from 2013 onwards.  After 
subsequent vacation of that business, in order to help fill this void the applicant originally applied 
to change the use back to A1. However there was no interest in an A1 use and on 7 February 
2019 a beauty salon (Sui Generis use) rented the property and has been operating since that 
date.

This proposed use replaces the prior non retail use with another non-retail use, and complements 
the centre’s retail offering and supports the centre’s vitality and ability to serve local needs. 

1. Proposal 

1.1 The proposal is for the continued use of 14 Lawrance Square as a beauty salon (Sui 
Generis use) which opened in February 2019. No external changes are proposed to the 
building. 

1.2 When the application was originally submitted it was for a change of use from D1 (sports 
clinic) to (A1) retail. Following the occupation of the unit in February 2019 with a beauty 
salon the applicant has changed the description to continued use as beauty salon (Sui 
Generis). With no neighbouring properties comments being received and with the 
business operating since February 2019 re-consultation was not deemed necessary and 

Page 13 Agenda Item 5a



surrounding properties have not been prejudiced by the change in description. In addition 
since the use has already commenced surrounding properties are visibly aware of this 
continuing use.

2. Relevant Planning History

20130355 - Change of use from A1 retail to D1 sports injury treatment clinic. Permitted 
12.06.2013

3. Planning Policies

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
• CS01 - Sustainable Development
• CS02 - Scale & Distribution of Development
• CS08 - Retail, Leisure and the Hierarchy of Centres
• CS11 - Transport
• CS19 - Development & Design Principles

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
• S3 – Maintenance of Shopping Frontages

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
• Section 2 - Achieving sustainable development
• Section 6 – Building a Strong, Competitive Economy 
• Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Consultees 

Gravesham Highway Development Management Officer  
4.1 No objections, as the property is served by a public car park.

Publicity

4.2 Neighbour notification letters sent to 9 surrounding addresses in the vicinity of the site 
with an expiry date of 15 November 2018. No comments were received.

5 Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments

Site Context & Proposal

5.2 Policy CS08 of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) seeks to support 
development of a scale and type appropriate to the position of the centre in the hierarchy 
and their character and safeguard the retail character and function of existing centres. At a 
national level the NPPF states at paragraph 80 that significant weight should be placed on 

Page 14



the need of supporting economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local 
business needs and wider opportunities for development.

5.3 Lawrance Square local centre is a mixture of shops at ground floor with residential units at 
first floor. In front of the application site there is a pavement and beyond that parking 
spaces serving the local centre. This local centre is quite dispersed and as the following 
information shows currently the local centre has 100% occupancy rate with 50% of the 
units being A1, one café (a3), one takeaway (a5) and three Sui Generis uses (including 
this application).

  List of occupiers (September 2019)

Address Occupier Use Class

13 Lawrance Square Hairdresser A1

19 Lawrance Square Cafe A3

21 Lawrance Square Sunbed/ Beauty Shop Sui Generis

27A Lawrance Square Cake School A1

10 Lawrance Square Newsagent A1

12 Lawrance Square Dog Grooming Sui Generis

14 Lawrance Square Beauty Shop Sui Generis

16 Lawrance Square Chemist A1

18 Lawrance Square Mini Market A1

20 Lawrance Square Assaf Ali Takeway     A5

5.4 The above table shows the local centre provides a range of shops that meet the day to 
day needs of local people.

5.5 The application site was a (sports clinic) from 2013 but that business has vacated the 
premises and left a vacant D1 use within the local centre. In order to help fill this void 
the applicant originally applied to change the use back to A1. However there was no 
interest in an A1 use and on 7 February 2019 a beauty salon rented the property which 
is a Sui Generis use.

5.6 The current lawful use of the building is a D1 use and as such the Local Planning 
Authority has already accepted the loss of A1 use in this unit is deemed acceptable.

5.7 As such, it is considered that the proposal will safeguard the retail function of the centre 
in line with Core Strategy policy CS08 (LPCS) and paragraph 80 of the NPPF.

Neighbouring Amenity 

5.8 Policy CS19 (LPCS) seeks to protect amenity and ensure acceptable future living 
conditions.  The NPPF also assists and seeks to ensure developments will function 

Page 15



well, do not undermine quality of life and create attractive and comfortable places to 
live, work and visit and seeks to “secure high quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings”.

5.9 Under this proposal the key issues that would affect neighbouring amenity relate to 
refuse arrangements, the hours of operation and traffic generation and car parking. 
Comments on these aspects are as follows: 

Refuse Arrangements

5.10 No details of the refuse arrangements have been provided. However the applicant has 
subsequently confirmed the existing refuse arrangements in the rear service yard are 
used. This is deemed acceptable and no conflict with Policy CS19 (LPCS) arises.

Hours of Use

5.11 The application form proposes 8am to 8pm Monday to Saturday and closed on 
Sundays and bank holidays. These hours are in line with the surrounding shops and 
would not have an adverse impact on the amenity of surrounding properties. In order to 
protect the amenity of the surrounding residential properties the hours of use will be 
conditioned. 

Parking and Highways

5.12 Policy CS11 (LPCS) seeks to ensure new development mitigates their impact on the 
highway and provides sufficient parking in accordance with adopted parking standards.  
This proposal will not create additional  floorspace within the local centre but may 
attract additional visitors given the opportunity to diversify the retail offer in this 
location.  There is dedicated parking provision available in front of this unit and 
unrestricted parking available on surrounding streets.  The proposal will not have a 
significant detrimental impact on the highway and sufficient parking is available within 
the vicinity.  There is no conflict with Saved Policy P3 of Gravesham Local Plan First 
review or Policy CS11 (LPCS).

Design, Character and appearance 

5.13 No external changes are proposed to the retail unit and thus no conflict with Policy 
CS19 (LPCS) arises.

6 Conclusion 

6.2 The proposal is a sustainable form of development that accords with national and local 
policy planning policy and integrates well into the surrounding local centre.  Subject to 
the hours of use being conditioned the continued use described will safeguard the 
amenity of surrounding properties. 

_________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be GRANTED Planning Permission, subject to 
the following conditions:

Page 16



Approved Plans

1. For the avoidance of doubt the development as carried out shall accord with the 
following approved plans:

 Ground Floor Plan - Dated stamped 23 October 2018.

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning

Use

2. Notwithstanding the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
Order 2015 (as amended) or any Order revoking and replacing that Order, the 
application site hereby permitted shall be used as a Beauty Salon and for no other 
purpose.

Reason In order that any other proposed uses of the ground floor may be the subject of a 
separate planning application which the Local Planning Authority would wish to 
consider on its merits having regard to issues of amenity, traffic safety and the 
prevailing planning policies.

Opening Hours 

3. The use shall open between the hours of 8am and 8pm Monday to Saturday, and 
between 10am and 5pm on Sunday, Bank or Public Holidays.

Reason in order to safeguard the living conditions of the occupants of adjoining dwellings 
and in accordance with Policy CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
(2014).

INFORMATIVES 

1. STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-
MAKING

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



4

36
55

1 to
 11

House

34

21 22

NEW HOUSE LANE

7 8

1

1

37

HA
YN

ES

Green Court

21

FW

19

Martin
 House

8 to 10

27

16

Cygnet Gardens

LAWRANCE SQUARE

JENKINS CLOSE

WESTCOTT

LB 22 to 26

5

2

17

8

21 to 31

13

19

47

BS
28

TCB

16

13

11 to 17

9 to 12

RH

1

33.6m

20

GARDEN ROW

37

27.4m

40
12

Martin

2 to 8

10
14

HAYNES ROAD

Community

15

45

32.1m

47a

38

FW

24

2314

10

2

5 to 8

23

HA
RD

EN
RO

AD

SHEARS GREEN COURT

27

2

PO

14

Dr
ain

22

3

30.7m

10

11

Martin House

21

17 18

18

RH

28

9

27a

AVENUE

23

LAWRANCE SQUARE

14

14

1

Shears

20

35

2

De
f

Martin
 House

25

22

12

18

18 to 20

16

13

13
28.2m

30

17

15

1

63

2 to 7

Centre
20

Car Park

29

HENRY GARDENS

12

11

1

RO
AD

1 2
32

1

Bennett H
ouse

15

RH

2

9 10

20181111
14 Lawrance Square, DA11 7HW

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 20 4010 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:1,250

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20190724

Site Address:
Land West Of 16 - 18 Wilberforce Way
Gravesend
Kent
DA12 5DQ

Application 
Description: Erection of 1no. two storey, 3 bedroom, detached dwelling.

Applicant: Gravesham Borough Council

Agent: Charlie Buckley, Architects Plus Ltd

Ward: Singlewell

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: Extension of time 3rd  October 2019

Publicity Expiry Date: 26th August 2019

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board – 2nd   October 2019

Reason for referral: Gravesham Borough Council is the applicant

Recommendation: Permission

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

The proposal is to erect a 3 bedroom two storey dwelling in the side garden of the maisonettes of 
16 - 18 Wilberforce Way. 

The design is deemed acceptable and the proposal will not have an adverse impact on the 
amenity of surrounding properties as the extensions are single storey and there is no conflict with 
local or national planning policy.

There will be no adverse impact on the surrounding highway network all consultee and neighbour 
concerns have been addressed.

As the development would deliver good quality additional housing onto an underused site, without 
any significant harmful impacts on the surrounding properties, it is deemed to comply with local 
and national planning policy and subject to the planning conditions as set out in this report 
permission is recommended.

Page 21 Agenda Item 5b



1. Proposal and Site Description 

1.1 The proposal is to erect a 3 bedroom two storey dwelling in the side garden of the 
maisonettes of 16 - 18 Wilberforce Way. The proposed dwelling has a depth of 9.76m, 
width of 5.66m and a height of 8.2m from slab to ridge level.

1.2 At ground floor the proposed dwelling has a living/dining and kitchen and a WC. At first 
floor 3 bedrooms and a family bathroom are proposed. At both ground and first floor 
dedicated storage space is included.

1.3 Surrounding the site there are football pitches to the west (Elite Venue) south and east 
are post war 2 storey dwellings with a community hall and associated car park to the 
north. 

1.4 Access to Wilberforce Way from the application site is via pedestrian path to the north 
or a vehicular alley way to the south. 

2. Relevant Planning History

2.1 Since the construction of 16 - 18 Wilberforce Way there is no relevant planning history.

3. Planning Policies

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
 CS01 – Sustainable Development 
 CS02 – Scale and Distribution of Development
 CS11 – Transport
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS14 – Housing Type and Size
 CS15 – Housing Density
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19 – Design & Development Principles

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
• T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)
 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
• Section 4 – Decision-making
• Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
• Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport
• Section 11 – Making effective use of land 
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
• Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.
• Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)

Page 22



• Housing Standards Policy Statement, 1st October, 2015; and
• Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards.

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Publicity

4.1 This application was advertised with a site notice and letters were sent to 5 
surrounding properties. One comment was received stating the following points
 Would like reassurance the boundaries around the site will be appropriately 

maintained 
 Concern with how the dwelling is constructed and access to the site during the 

construction phase

Consultees 

Internal 

Highway Development Management Officer 
No off street car parking is being provided, which while compliant with Gravesham 
Borough Council’s parking guidance does not conform to Kent County Council’s 
guidance as Highway Authority. Also, with the move to electric vehicles it may become 
difficult for residents to recharge their vehicles at home without off street parking being 
available, or adequate provision being made on street, which is complicated here by the 
number of houses served by the footpath. It is highly recommended that space for at 
least a single vehicle should be made in the rear garden and this should be equipped 
with an EV charging point. By the careful choice of materials, the car parking space has 
the potential to serve a dual use as an amenity space when the vehicle is away.

Waste Management
Refuse storage will be provided within the front garden area with easy access from the 
front door. Tenants will be required to place their refuse containers on Wilberforce Way 
on collection day, and return them to the property following collection.

I have no problem with these arrangements, it will be the same as the adjacent 
properties.

Regulatory Services (Contaminated Land Officer)

Based on the review of:
 Preliminary Investigation Report (Soils Limited, June 2019)

The report presents the findings of a desk study and site walkover. It adequately reviews 
the history and environmental setting of the site. Potential sources of contamination have 
been identified onsite, including fly tipped materials and naturally elevated lead 
concentrations. The site has also been identified as a high risk area for UXO, and as 
such a specialist assessment is recommended. An intrusive investigation is required to 
determine the extent and severity of any contamination. I therefore recommend the 
following condition:

No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a 
contaminated land assessment (in accordance with the CLEA guidelines and CLR 11 
methodology) and if necessary an associated remedial strategy, together with a timetable 
of works, being submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.

Page 23



External

Kent Fire & Rescue Service
The submitted plan(s) do not show sufficient detail of the access to the site for the fire 
and rescue service, as required by Section 53 of the County of Kent Act 1981 (Section 
53). In order that I can confirm that sufficient access is provided, I ask that you 
forward more detailed plans to this office.

Alternatively the installation of a domestic sprinkler/fire suppression will increase the 
distance of Fire Service access to 90 metres.

5. Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments

Principle of Development

5.1 Policy CS02 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively 
assessed need for housing over the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that 
there is a need for at least 6,170 new dwellings during the period. Evidence now 
available shows that the Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year housing supply. 
This engages the first part of footnote 7 of the NPPF and this means for decision-taking  
that planning permission for applications involving the provision of housing should 
granted in line with the requirements of the NPPF Para 11(d) unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework (the NPPF) that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed. 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the   
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken.

5.2 The proposed development for a net increase of ‘1’ dwelling would offer a minimal 
contribution towards meeting this local need and, accordingly, officers considers that 
this should be accorded minimal weight in support of the application. However, this has 
to be balanced against other requirements of the NPPF which requires development to 
add to the overall quality of the area, be visually attractive, sympathetic to local 
character and create acceptable amenity for future occupiers.

5.3 Policy CS02 (LPCS) prioritises development in the urban area as a sustainable location 
for development. Policy CS02 (LPCS) seeks to achieve this by:  

Promoting regeneration by prioritising the redevelopment and recycling of underused, 
derelict and previously developed land in the urban area.

5.4 The NPPF is explicit that planning policies and decisions should promote an effective 
use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses. Paragraph 119 advises that 
local planning authorities should take a proactive role in identifying and helping to bring 
forward land that may be suitable for meeting development needs, including suitable 
sites on brownfield registers or held in public ownership, using the full range of powers 
available to them. Where there is an existing or anticipated shortage of land for meeting 
identified housing needs, as is currently the case the local authority is seeking to make 
optimal use of this site through residential development.

5.5 The application site meets does not meet definition of previously developed land as the 
application site is an existing garden within the urban area. However this application 

Page 24



meets the requirement of Section 11 of the NPPF as the Local Authority is bringing 
forward underused land for residential development.

5.6 In conclusion it is considered that the principle of development here is acceptable 
subject to the dwelling complying with the relevant policies relating to design, amenity, 
parking provision and any other material planning considerations.

5.7 The key issues to be considered are as follows:
 Design, Character and appearance;
 Amenity for future residents;
 Impact on surrounding properties;
 Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements;
 Drainage;
 Contaminated Land;
 Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking; and
 Ecology and Biodiversity.

Design, Character and appearance 

5.8 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires development to conserve and enhance the character of 
the local built, historic and natural environment, integrate well with the surrounding local 
area and meet anti-crime standards. This stance is reflected in chapter 12 (Achieving 
well-designed places) of the NPPF.

5.9 It is worth noting that the scheme that is before Members has been the subject to 
extensive pre-application discussion prior to submitting this application.

5.10 Policy CS15 (LPCS) seeks to achieve a minimum density of 40 dwellings per hectare 
for residential development in the urban area, subject to the overriding consideration 
that the scheme is well designed and does not compromise the distinctive character of 
the area. The application site measures 0.0187 hectares and the density of the 
development equates to 54 dwellings per hectare. This is in keeping with the density 
and character of the surrounding area and appropriate for the physical constraints of 
the site.

5.11 Policy CS14 (LPCS) seeks to ensure that new housing development provides a range 
of dwelling types and sizes.  The proposed 3 bed dwelling will add to the Council’s 
stock of family housing.  Currently there are 262 households requiring this size 
accommodation who are registered with the Council for housing. 

5.12 The dwelling which is set genrally in line with the front building line of 16/18 Wilderforce 
Way but protrudes 1.67m beyond the rear elevation of the adjacent property. This is 
demonstrated on the below extract from the proposed site plan.

Page 25



5.13 At ground floor there is an open plan living/kitchen and dining room with a downstairs 
WC. At first floor 3 bedrooms are proposed with a family bathroom.

5.14 To the rear of the property a 9.82m deep garden is proposed with an area of 83m².

5.15 In summary the overall design of the scheme is acceptable and its felt that the design 
which has been the subject of negotiations complies with local and national planning 
policy in relation to design and no further amendments are required to the design.

Amenity for future residents 

5.16 Policy CS19 (LPCS) seeks to protect amenity and ensure acceptable future living 
conditions are included in the LPCS.  The NPPF also assists and seeks to ensure 
developments will function well, do not undermine quality of life and create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit and seeks to “secure high quality design 
and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and 
buildings”.

5.17 Internally all of the room sizes meet the Councils residential layout guidelines and the 
overall space standards for a 3 bedroom 5 person dwelling as set out in the nationally 
prescribed space standards.

5.18 Externally 82m² of amenity space is provided to the south of the dwelling with direct 
access into the living room through double doors. An additional 67m² of amenity space 
surrounds the west, east and north of the property as hardstanding. This is sufficient 
private amenity space for future occupiers and complies with the council’s residential 
layout guidelines which require 60m² of amenity space.  The garden depth is roughly 
consistent with the 10m depth sought for within SPG 4.

Page 26



5.19 The existing windows on the flank wall of the adjacent properties of 16/18 Wilberforce 
Way will not harm the amenity of future occupiers of the proposed dwelling. 

5.20 The full details of the hard and soft landscaping will conditioned (This will include 
boundary treatment).

5.21 Subject to the above details being secured by condition it is considered that overall the 
proposal provides acceptable living conditions for future occupiers and complies with 
Policy CS19 (LPCS). 

Impact on surrounding properties

5.22 Development should not cause demonstrable harm to the amenity of any existing 
residents or property such that it will materially harm their living conditions. Policy CS19 
(LPCS) requires new development to safeguard the amenity, including privacy, daylight 
and sunlight, of its occupants and those of neighbouring properties and land and 
paragraph 127 of the NPPF which requires the amenity of existing residents to 
protected.

5.23 To the north of the property there is the car park serving the community hall and 
football pitches to the west (Elite Venue) south of the site is the shared access way and 
beyond that two storey maisonettes. A distance of 28m is maintained between the 
habitable windows of the proposed dwelling and maisonettes to the south which meets 
the requirements of the Council’s Residential Layout Guidelines.

5.24 The existing properties of 16/18 Wilerforce Way have flank windows at ground and first 
floor level and with this development only being 2.43m from these windows and there 
will be a loss outlook from these windows.

5.25 However following a site visit and confirmation from the applicant the impact of the 
development on these windows will be acceptable as outlined below.

5.26 At ground floor the bottom left window is a secondary window to a kitchen and the 
bottom right window serves a bathroom. At first floor the setup is the same with far left 
window serving as a secondary window for a kitchen, the middle window serving a 
landing and the top right window serving a bathroom.  The following photograph (taken 
20th September 2019 shows the flank windows in question).

Page 27



5.27 As such the proposed development will only result in the loss of outlook onto the 
secondary serving kitchens and bedrooms on the west elevation. The exception to this 
is the ground and first floor bathrooms which only have windows on the flank wall. 
However both of these windows are obscure glazed and non-habitable rooms.

5.28 At first floor a bathroom window is proposed on the east elevation which would only be 
2.34m, from the adjacent property. In order to ensure the privacy of adjacent and future 
occupiers are protected a condition will be included that this window is obscure glazed 
and top hung only.

5.29 The rear elevation of building protrudes 1.67m beypnd the rear elevation the adjacent 
properties at 16/18 Wilberforce Way but with a distance of 2.34m it is considered this 
development will not result in overshadowing or loss outlook to either of these 
properties.

5.30 Comments received from neighbouring properties regarding concern of the proposed 
development construction impact are addressed through a pre-commencement 
condition requiring details of a construction management plan.  

5.31 In summary the proposal would not have a materially adverse impact on the amenity of 
surrounding properties and there is no conflict with local or national planning policy.

Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 

5.32 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to incorporate appropriate facilities for 
the storage and recycling of waste. 

Page 28



5.33 The submitted plans shows that to the front of the property a bin refuse area is 
proposed which shows space for two wheelie bins and a shelving area for stacking 
recycling items. 

5.34 The applicant has confirmed that future occupiers will be required to place their refuse 
containers on Wilberforce Way on collection day, and return them to the property 
following collection. Gravesham Waste Management have confirmed this arrangement 
is acceptable and this is what the current neighbouring properties.

5.35 However, to ensure that bin storage area is acceptable in size to provide storage for 
general waste bin, recycling bin, gardening waste and food caddy details of the refuse 
storage area will be conditioned.

5.36 In summary with regard to refuse arrangements the development complies with Policy 
CS19 (LPCS).

Drainage 

5.37 Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage 
and surface water run-off. KCC is the Lead Local Flood Authority, but have not 
provided comment on this application.  As KCC have provided comments on similar 
size developments within the borough it is proposed to provide the standard KCC 
condition on sustainable surface water drainage which requires the following:

1. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Council.

2. Details of operation and maintenance of the sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme.

3. Verification Report pertaining to the surface water drainage system.
4. Details of infiltration if used to manage flood water.

5.38 In summary subject to the suitable conditions there is no conflict with Policy CS18 
(LPCS).

Contaminated Land

5.39 Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Paragraph 170 of the NPPF require new development to 
avoid adverse environmental impacts of land contamination and remediating 
contaminated land. 

5.40 In support of this application the applicant has submitted a preliminary Investigation 
Report (Soils Limited, June 2019) which has identified potential sources of 
contamination have been identified onsite, including fly tipped materials and naturally 
elevated lead concentrations. The site has also been identified as a high risk area for 
UXO, and as such a specialist assessment is recommended.

5.41 As such Gravesham Regulatory Services is recommending a contaminated land 
assessment (in accordance with the CLEA guidelines and CLR 11 methodology) is 
conditioned.

5.42 Subject to the recommended condition no conflict with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and 
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF.

Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking

Page 29



5.43 Policy CS11 (LPCS) states that new development should mitigate its impact on the 
public highway and that transport assessments should be provided and implemented 
to ensure delivery of travel choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. 
Furthermore, it states that sufficient car parking in new developments will be provided 
in accordance with adopted standards which will reflect the availability of alternative 
means of transport accessibility to services and facilities. This stance is reflected in the 
NPPF which states at paragraph 109 development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds where the cumulative impact of development are severe. 
In this instance the nature and scale of the development does not require a transport 
statement or transport assessment.

5.44 Initially Gravesham’s Highway Development Management officer raised concern that 
this proposal has no off street car parking being provided, which while compliant with 
Gravesham Borough Council’s parking guidance does not conform to Kent County 
Council’s guidance as Highway Authority.

5.45 The applicant was asked to investigate if it would be possible to provide one parking 
for this dwelling and it was concluded that this space would not be possible without 
losing the majority of the garden for 16/18 Wilberforce Way and there would be 
insufficient visibility and turning area for vehicles. This is demonstrated on the below 
plan that the applicant supplied to show how a car parking space could be physically 
included for the development site.

5.46 Taking the above into account on balance it is considered that as there is sufficient on 
street parking available and the other maisonettes within vicinity rely on on-street 
parking this scheme will not have an adverse impact on the surrounding transport 
network.

5.47 Kent Fire & Rescue service have raised concerns for means of access for fire 
appliances in the event of a fire and in order to address this issue they have agreed a 
that the securing of a condition requiring a domestic sprinkler/fire suppression system 
to be installed within the dwelling will adequately address that concern.

Page 30



5.48 Whilst this proposal does not provide any car parking provision to serve the dwelling, 
the surrounding streets have sufficient on street parking provision, along with 
Wilberforce way being served by bus routes. On balance it is considered that in this 
instance the proposal with no car parking is acceptable. 

Ecology and Biodiversity

5.49 The application site falls within 6km of the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special 
Protection Area (SPA) classified in accordance with the European Birds Directive 
which requires Member States to classify sites that are important for bird species listed 
on Annex 1 of the European Directive, which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European 
context, and also sites that form a critically important network for birds on migration.  It 
is also listed as a Wetland of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention 
(Ramsar Site).  Studies have shown marked declines in key bird species, particularly in 
areas that are busiest with recreational activity.  Research conducted in 2011 found 
that additional dwellings were likely to result in additional recreational activity, causing 
disturbance to protected bird species that over-winter or breed on the SPA and 
Ramsar Site.  The studies found that 75% of recreational visitors to the North Kent 
coast originate from within 6 km of the SPA boundary and Ramsar Site.  The impacts 
of recreational disturbance can be such that they affect the status and distribution of 
key bird species and therefore act against the stated conservation objectives of the 
European Sites.  

5.50 The Borough Council has mitigated out the impacts of this on each and every planning 
application for a new residential development of one or more units within the 6km zone 
since September 2015 by accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and Monitoring 
Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £245.56 per dwelling).  This approach is 
approved by Natural England for all new residential developments.

5.51 For every planning application for a new dwelling (including new flats) which does not 
require any other contributions to be secured through a s106 legal agreement or 
unilateral undertaking the tariff has been secured through a contribution agreement.

5.52 Irrespective of the above, a Court of Justice European Union (CJEU) ruling means a 
screening assessment as to whether the development either alone or in combination, 
is likely to have significant effects on a designated site is required.  The CJEU sees a 
distinction between “the plan or project” itself and “measures intended to avoid or 
reduce the harmful effects of a plan or project on a European site”. This means that 
mitigation measures, which are intended to avoid or reduce effects, should be 
assessed within the framework of an AA and cannot be taken into account at the 
screening stage.  

5.53 In this case a contribution (£245.56) has been provided by the applicants and a 
screening for Appropriate Assessment (AA) has been undertaken.

5.54 Whilst the application does involve the development of an undeveloped garden area, 
the proposal does include the provision of an adequate soft landscaped garden space, 
and as such the a biodiversity net gain is unlikely to be provided, though the delivery of 
much needed family housing, combined with the limited constraints of the site, are 
considered to not cause this impact to warrant the refusal of planning permission.  A 
good level of soft landscaping and planting shall be delivered by condition, in any case.

6. Financial Considerations

Page 31



6.1 In terms of other financial benefits, it is noted that these will accrue to the area as 
and when permissions are granted. The Government wishes to ensure that the 
decision making process for planning applications is a transparent as possible, so 
that local communities are more aware of the financial benefits that development 
can bring to their area. In this instance the proposed new residential units would 
generate the New Homes Bonus and Council Tax receipts. It is anticipated that 
Business Rate may be accrued form the commercial units. 

7. Conclusion 

7.1 The proposal is a sustainable form of development that accords with national and local 
policy planning policy and will provide an acceptable scheme within the urban area of 
Gravesend.

7.2 The agent has agreed to all the pre-commencement conditions as set out in this report 
and permission is recommended.

________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be GRANTED Planning Permission, subject to 
the following conditions:
Time Limit

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with 
the following schedule of approved plans:
Drawing No. 18867-WW-SK-00 Rev A– Location Plan
Drawing No. 18867-WW-SK-E-01– Existing Site Plan
Drawing No. 18867-WW-SK-01 Rev G – Proposed Site Plan
Drawing No. 18867-WW-SK-03 Rev A – Proposed Elevations
Drawing No. 18867-WW-SK-02 Rev E – Proposed Floor Plans

Reason: For the avoidance of any doubt and in the interest of proper planning in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Pre-commencement Conditions 

Contaminated Land

3. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a 
contaminated land assessment (in accordance with the CLEA guidelines and CLR 11 
methodology) and if necessary an associated remedial strategy, together with a timetable 
of works, being submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.

Page 32



a)  A site investigation, based on the findings of the submitted Preliminary Investigation 
Report (Soils Limited, June 2019), shall be carried out by a suitably qualified and 
accredited consultant/contractor in accordance with a Quality Assured sampling and 
analysis methodology.

b)  A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and sampling on site, 
together with the results of analysis, risk assessment to any receptors and a proposed 
remediation strategy shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  The Local 
Planning Authority shall approve such remedial works as required prior to any 
remediation commencing on site.  The works shall be of such a nature so as to render 
harmless the identified contamination given the proposed end-use of the site and 
surrounding environment including any controlled waters.

c)  Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on site under a quality 
assurance scheme to demonstrate compliance with the proposed methodology and best 
practice guidance).  If during any works contamination is encountered which has not 
previously been identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and 
an appropriate remediation scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.

d)  Upon completion of the works, this condition shall not be discharged until a closure 
report has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The closure 
report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and the quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with the 
approved methodology.  Details of any post remediation sampling and analysis to show 
the site has reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the closure report 
together with the necessary documentation detailing what waste materials have been 
removed from the site.

e)  Where applicable, a monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the 
long-term effectiveness of the proposed remediation over an agreed period of time, and 
the provision of reports on the same, must be prepared and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority.

Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme, and when the 
remediation objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness 
of the monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced and submitted to the 
local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with 
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Code of Construction Practice

4. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a comprehensive 
Code of Construction Practice covering all environmental impacts of this development is 
provided by the applicant and submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority.  
The approved scheme shall include details of hours of work during the construction 
period, delivery times for materials, parking of vehicles of site personnel and visitors, 
loading and unloading of plant and materials, storage of materials and wheel washing 
proposals; the development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Code of Construction Practice.

Page 33



Reason: To ensure the free flow of traffic on the highway and to minimise the impact on 
residential amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: 
Core Strategy (September 2014).

Sustainable Surface Water Drainage

5. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a scheme for 
sustainable surface water drainage has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The detailed drainage scheme submitted shall 

(i) demonstrate that both the rate and volume of run-off leaving the site post-
development will be restricted to that of the existing site during any rainfall event (up to 
and including the climate change adjusted 100yr critical storm)

(ii) demonstrate that the existing on-site surface water flow-routes and accumulation 
points will not be altered in such a way that the development places property at risk from 
flooding during any rainfall event, up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 
100yr storm,

(iii) demonstrate that infiltration features are not located on parts of the site where 
contamination might be present 

(iii)  include a timetable for its implementation, and

(iv) include a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable 
drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

The surface water drainage scheme shall thereafter be implemented in full prior to first 
residential occupation of the development and thereafter maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this 
proposal; to ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at risk from, 
or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions, in accordance 
with policies CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Prior to above ground works

Materials

6. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and application form before  
any above ground works commence, additional details (and samples where requested by 
the Local Planning Authority) of all the external facing materials to be used in the 
construction of the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To maintain the character and appearance of the building and to ensure a 
satisfactory visual relationship between the existing and new development in accordance 
with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Page 34



Prior to occupation

Hard Surface and Boundary Treatments

7. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans a scheme of hard landscaping shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The landscaping works shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the completion of the 
development or the first occupation of the residential unit whichever is sooner.  The 
scheme shall include: 

 proposed boundary treatments, 
 proposed finished levels and contours, 
 details of any retaining walls, steps, railings, walls, fencing, gates or other 

supporting structures

Reason: To protect and enhance the visual amenity and the character of the area and to 
ensure a satisfactory environment for existing and future residents in accordance with 
Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Soft Landscaping Scheme 

8. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans a scheme detailing the proposed soft landscaping 
shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include the type and species of planting to be carried out, to include their 
quantity and size as well as arrangements for aftercare. Thereafter the approved soft 
landscaping scheme shall be carried out in full during the first available planting season 
following first occupation of the dwelling. Any trees or plants that die, are damaged, 
removed or become diseased within five years from the date that the development is first 
brought into use shall be replaced with a species of a similar size and species during the 
next available planting season. 

Reason: To ensure that the landscaping is maintained in the long term in the interests of 
the visual amenity of the development, in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Refuse arrangements

9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding 
details on the approved plans details of the refuse arrangements shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The submitted details shall 
ensure adequate provision for non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable waste 
and security arrangements for the refuse stores. The approved refuse arrangements 
shall be provided prior to first occupation of the dwelling and thereafter be retained for 
such purposes at all times. 

Reason: In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area 
in the interest of amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

External Lighting

 10. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of all proposed 
external lighting shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 

Page 35



Authority.  The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with these 
approved details.

Reason In order to ensure the development does not cause harm to residential amenity 
by reason of the installation of intrusive lighting and in accordance Policy CS19 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Permitted Development Rights (Extensions, Dormers, Outbuildings)

11. No development under the provisions of Article 3 of and Class A, B and E of Part 1 of 
Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 as amended (or any provision equivalent to that Class in any Statutory Instrument 
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) shall be carried out on the 
dwelling or within the garden unless a specific grant of planning permission has been 
given by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the development 
of the site in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core 
Strategy (September 2014).

INFORMATIVES:-

1 REASON FOR IMPOSITION OF PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS

2 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION- 
TAKING

3 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION

4 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

5 SOUTHERN WATER

Page 36



64

35

33

RO
AD

92

10
0

29

19

61

47

15

9

27
Mast

96

7

56

2

40

56
b

6371

18

70

6

41
15

38

26

17

The Sports Ground

Church of

95
28

98

32

84

52

37

4

25

20

65

93

Family

4

ESS

50

6

16

7
11

MUNGO PARK ROAD

1

39

8

58

82

61

15

84

35

NA
NS

EN

The Holy

Sports Ground

44

72

47

50

49

28

86

30

94

10

5

20190724
Land West of 16-18 Wilberforce Way
DA12 5DQ

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 20 4010 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:1,250

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20190725

Site Address:
Land To The Rear Of 125 Barr Road
Barr Road
Gravesend

Application 
Description: Demolition of 6 existing garages and erection of 1no. 1 bedroom 

bungalow and associated parking.

Applicant: Gravesham Borough Council

Agent: Charlie Buckley, Architects Plus Ltd

Ward: WestCourt

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: 3rd October 2019

Publicity Expiry Date: 26th August 2019

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board – 2nd   October 2019

Reason for referral: Gravesham Borough Council is the applicant

Recommendation: Permission

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

The application would replace 6 lockup garages (half of which are in current use) with a 1 
bedroom (plus flexible use mezzanine / first floor room) dwelling.  The dwelling would include a 
68.2m2 garden, 2 car parking spaces, and a turning area, as well as the retention of existing 
neighbouring garden and vehicular accesses would be retained.

The design is deemed acceptable and the proposal will not have an adverse impact on the 
amenity of surrounding properties as the extensions are single storey and there is no conflict with 
local or national planning policy.

There will be no adverse impact on the surrounding highway network and no consultee or 
neighbour objections have been received.

As the development would deliver good quality additional housing onto an underused site, without 
any significant harmful impacts on the surrounding properties, it is deemed to comply with local 
and national planning policy and subject to the planning conditions as set out in this report 
permission is recommended.

Page 39 Agenda Item 5c



1. Proposal and Site Description 

1.1 The proposal it demolish 6 lockup garages and construct a 1 bedroom chalet bungalow 
with a mezzanine floor which will have a slab to ridge height of 6.79m and a footprint of 
76.87m². At ground floor the dwelling has a living room/kitchen/diner of 25m², a 
bedroom of 14m² and a wetroom of 6m². At first floor a mezzanine storage space of 
36.73m² is proposed. A combined hard / soft landscaped area of 68.2m2 is proposed.

1.2 The dwelling has not been designed specifically for a disabled person but has been 
designed that in the future it could be adapted to a disabled persons need (though the 
location of primary living space at ground floor level and the provision f a large 
‘wetroom’ bathroom.

1.3 Two parking spaces are proposed for the dwelling and in front of the dwelling sufficient 
turning space is provided to serve the new dwelling and existing dwellings which uses 
the access. The existing access road surface is to be upgraded.

1.4 Pedestrian access to the site is either along the shared vehicular access onto Barr 
Road or through the pedestrian path providing direct access onto the crescent between 
125 and 127 Barr Road.

1.5 The area is characterised by a mixture of post war local authority housing and 1930’s 
semi-detached and terraced two storey dwellings. 

2. Relevant Planning History

2.1 There is no relevant planning history for the site.

3. Planning Policies

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
 CS01 – Sustainable Development 
 CS02 – Scale and Distribution of Development
 CS11 – Transport
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS14 – Housing Type and Size
 CS15 – Housing Density
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19 – Design & Development Principles

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
• T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)
 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
• Section 4 – Decision-making
• Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Page 40



• Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport
• Section 11 – Making effective use of land 
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
• Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.
• Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG 2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
• Housing Standards Policy Statement, 1st October, 2015; and
• Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards.

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Publicity

4.1 Letters were sent to 10 surrounding properties informing them of this proposal and to 
date no comments have been received. 

Consultees 

Internal 

Highway Development Management Officer 
No objections to the layout subject to the provision of an Electric Vehicle charging point, 
though the loss of three garages that are in use is a concern. However, this depends on 
whether the garages are used for storage or the parking of vehicles.

The loss of parking spaces if used by local residents will place additional demand to find 
parking elsewhere particularly on street and would be a matter of concern. The loss of 
storage is not such an issue as there are commercial operations that provide suitable 
facilities.

Ideally some further information should be submitted regarding the use and approximate 
location of the garage tenants to determine whether the loss of the garages would be a 
highway issue    

Waste Management
Refuse storage will be to the front of the garden, adjacent to the parking spaces. Due to 
the nature of the property, it will qualify for hand delivery refuse collection so a collection 
point closer to Barr Road will not be required.

I am happy with storage arrangements.

Regulatory Services (Contaminated Land Officer)
Based on the review of:
 Preliminary Investigation Report (Soils Limited, June 2019)

The report presents the findings of a desk study and site walkover. It adequately reviews 
the history and environmental setting of the site. Potential sources of contamination have 
been identified onsite, including fly tipped materials and naturally elevated lead 
concentrations. The site has also been identified as a high risk area for UXO, and as 
such a specialist assessment is recommended. An intrusive investigation is required to 
determine the extent and severity of any contamination. I therefore recommend the 
following condition:

Page 41



No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a 
contaminated land assessment (in accordance with the CLEA guidelines and CLR 11 
methodology) and if necessary an associated remedial strategy, together with a timetable 
of works, being submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.

External

Kent Fire & Rescue Service
Means of access is considered acceptable

5. Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments

Principle of Development

5.1 Policy CS02 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively 
assessed need for housing over the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that 
there is a need for at least 6,170 new dwellings during the period. Evidence now 
available shows that the Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year housing supply. 
This engages the first part of footnote 7 of the NPPF and this means for decision-taking   
that planning permission for applications involving the provision of housing should 
granted in line with the requirements of the NPPF Para 11(d) unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework (the NPPF) that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed. 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the   
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken.

5.2 The proposed development for a net increase of ‘1’ dwelling would offer a minimal 
contribution towards meeting this local need and, accordingly, officers considers that 
this should be accorded minimal weight in support of the application. However, this has 
to be balanced against other requirements of the NPPF which requires development to  
add to the overall quality of the area, be visually attractive, sympathetic to local 
character and create acceptable amenity for future occupiers.

5.3 Policy CS02 (LPCS) prioritises development in the urban area as a sustainable location 
for development. Policy CS02 (LPCS) seeks to achieve this by:  

Promoting regeneration by prioritising the redevelopment and recycling of underused, 
derelict and previously developed land in the urban area.

5.4 The NPPF is explicit that planning policies and decisions should promote an effective 
use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses. Paragraph 119 advises that 
local planning authorities should take a proactive role in identifying and helping to bring 
forward land that may be suitable for meeting development needs, including suitable 
sites on brownfield registers or held in public ownership, using the full range of powers 
available to them. Where there is an existing or anticipated shortage of land for meeting 
identified housing needs, as is currently the case the local authority is seeking to make 
optimal use of this site through residential development.

5.5 The application site meets the definition of previously developed land and this 
application meets the requirement of Section 11 of the NPPF as the LPA is bringing 
forward underused brownfield land for residential development.  Paragraph 5.43 below 

Page 42



sets out that the 3 garages in use are not serving a significant local need for car 
parking, and thus the loss of this use is not objectionable.

5.6 In conclusion it is considered that the principle of residential development here is 
acceptable subject to the dwelling complying with the relevant policies relating to 
design, amenity, parking provision and any other material planning considerations.

5.7 The key issues to be considered are as follows:
 Design, Character and appearance;
 Amenity for future residents;
 Impact on surrounding properties;
 Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements;
 Drainage;
 Contaminated Land;
 Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking; and
 Ecology and Biodiversity.

Design, Character and appearance 

5.8 Policy CS19 (LPCS) which requires development to conserve and enhance the 
character of the local built, historic and natural environment, integrate well with the 
surrounding local area and meet anti-crime standards. This stance is reflected in 
chapter 12 (Achieving well-designed places) of the NPPF.

5.9 The scheme has been the subject to extensive pre-application discussion prior to 
submitting this application.

5.10 Policy CS15 (LPCS) seeks to achieve a minimum density of 40 dwellings per hectare 
for residential development in the urban area, subject to the overriding consideration 
that the scheme is well designed and does not compromise the distinctive character of 
the area. The redline boundary measures 0.05 hectares and the density of the 
development equates to 20 dwellings per hectare. This is below the minimum density 
as out in Policy CS15 (LPCS), but it is considered in keeping with the density and 
character of the surrounding area and the physical constraints of the site.

5.11 Policy CS14 (LPCS) seeks to ensure that new housing development provides a range 
of dwelling types and sizes. The proposed wheelchair accessible and adaptable 
dwelling has been designed to meet a variety of housing needs such as people with 
impaired mobility that require level living accommodation. This may include older 
persons downsizing from larger family homes who need this type of accommodation. 

5.12 The design of the dwelling is a chalet bungalow which ensures it will not be overbearing 
to the surrounding dwellings and within the roof space no dormer windows are 
proposed only rooflight windows and one small gable window.

5.13 External materials are indicated on the plans but to ensure that the external finish is 
deemed acceptable a condition requiring a detailed schedule of external facing 
materials will be included.

5.14 Whilst it is acknowledged the plot is constrained in size there is sufficient level of 
private amenity space provided and a paved path around the dwelling and the 
development does not appear as cramped development and fits in well with the built 
character of the area.

Page 43



5.15 In summary the overall design of the scheme is acceptable and its felt that the design 
which has been the subject of negotiations, now complies with local and national 
planning policy in relation to design.

Amenity for future residents 

5.16 Policy CS19 (LPCS) seeks to protect amenity and ensure acceptable future living 
conditions are included in the LPCS.  The NPPF also assists and seeks to ensure 
developments will function well, do not undermine quality of life and create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit and seeks to “secure high quality design 
and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and 
buildings”.

5.17 Internally all of the room sizes meet the Councils residential layout guidelines and the 
overall space standards for a 1 bedroom 2 person dwelling as set out in the nationally 
prescribed space standards

5.18 Externally 36.8m² of amenity space is provided to the south of the dwelling with direct 
access into the living room through double doors. An additional 31m² of amenity space 
surrounds the west and north of the property in the form of hardstanding. This is 
sufficient private amenity space for future occupiers and complies with the council’s 
residential layout guidelines which require 37.2m² of amenity space

5.19 The full details of the hard and soft landscaping will conditioned (This will include 
boundary treatment).

5.20 In order to provide a safe and secure environment for future occupiers the plans show 
lighting column being proposed. In order to ensure that a sufficient lighting scheme is 
implemented the lighting details / levels will be conditioned.

5.21 Subject to the above details being secured by condition it is considered that overall the 
proposal provides acceptable living conditions for future occupiers and complies with 
Policy CS19 (LPCS). 

Impact on surrounding properties

5.22 Development should not cause demonstrable harm to the amenity of any existing 
residents or property such that it will materially harm their living conditions. This is 
reflected in Policy CS19 (LPCS) which requires new development to safeguard the 
amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of 
neighbouring properties and land, and paragraph 127 of the NPPF which requires the 
amenity of existing residents to protected.

5.23 Under this proposal with the dwelling being a chalet bungalow will have no overlooking 
into surrounding properties habitable windows or private amenity space. The proposal 
includes a first floor side (north facing) gable window, which would face across the rear 
garage access lane to Rochester Road properties, with the signficant distances to the 
rear elevations of those properties and private amenity areas adjacent well in excess of 
the Council’s guidance distance of 26m.  Sufficient distance is maintained between the 
proposed development and nearest dwellings of 125 and 127 Barr Road (8.174m & 
12.11m). 

Page 44



5.24 There will be no material overshadowing or loss of outlook to surrounding properties 
form this development.

5.25 A benefit of this proposal is that the 6 lockup garages and unlit area will be replaced by 
a dwelling creating natural surveillance, improved surface treatment and lighting. 
Therefore all the surrounding properties who use this area will have an improved and 
safer environment. 

5.26 In summary the proposal would not have a materially adverse impact on the amenity of 
surrounding properties and there is no conflict with local or national planning policy.

Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 

5.27 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to incorporate appropriate facilities for 
the storage and recycling of waste. 

5.28 The submitted plans shows that to the front of the property a bin refuse area is 
proposed which shows space for two wheelie bins and a shelving area for stacking 
recycling items. 

5.29 Gravesham Waste Management has confirmed that the location of the refuse store is 
acceptable and they would expect future occupiers to bring their bins to Barr Road for 
collection.

5.30 However, to ensure that bin storage area is acceptable in size to provide storage for 
general waste bin, recycling bin, gardening waste and food caddy details of the refuse 
storage area will be conditioned.

5.31 In summary with regard to refuse arrangements the development complies with Policy 
CS19 (LPCS).

Drainage 

5.32 Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage 
and surface water run-off. KCC is the Lead Local Flood Authority, but have not 
provided comment on this application.  As KCC have provided comments on similar 
size developments within the borough it is proposed to provide the standard KCC 
condition on sustainable surface water drainage which requires the following:

1. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Council.

2. Details of operation and maintenance of the sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme.

3. Verification Report pertaining to the surface water drainage system.
4. Details of infiltration if used to manage flood water.

5.33 In summary subject to the suitable conditions there is no conflict with Policy CS18 
(LPCS).

Contaminated Land

5.34 Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Paragraph 170 of the NPPF require new development to 
avoid adverse environmental impacts of land contamination and remediating 
contaminated land. 

Page 45



5.35 In support of this application the applicant has submitted a  preliminary Investigation 
Report (Soils Limited, June 2019) which has identified potential sources of 
contamination have been identified onsite, including fly tipped materials and naturally 
elevated lead concentrations.. The site has also been identified as a high risk area for 
UXO, and as such a specialist assessment is recommended.

5.36 As such Gravesham Regulatory Services is recommending a contaminated land 
assessment (in accordance with the CLEA guidelines and CLR 11 methodology) is 
conditioned.

5.37 Subject to the recommended condition no conflict with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and 
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF.

Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking

5.38 Policy CS11 (LPCS) states that new development should mitigate its impact on the 
public highway and that transport assessments should be provided and implemented 
to ensure delivery of travel choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. 
Furthermore, it states that sufficient car parking in new developments will be provided 
in accordance with adopted standards which will reflect the availability of alternative 
means of transport accessibility to services and facilities. This stance is reflected in the 
NPPF which states at paragraph 109 development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds where the cumulative impact of development are severe. 
In this instance the nature and scale of the development does not require a transport 
statement or transport assessment.

5.39 This proposal will provide two parking spaces for the dwelling to the west of the 
dwelling and a sufficient turning area is included so vehicles can leave the site in a 
forward gear. To the east of the turning around the existing pedestrian access to 127 
Barr Road will be maintained.

5.40 The proposal shows lighting will be provided for the alleyway which will create a safe 
and secure environment for future occupiers. 

5.41 The existing vehicular access to the rear of 117 Barr Road will maintained but the 
applicant confirms that this access will be temporarily suspended during the 
construction period. 

5.42 Gravesham Highway Engineer raises no concern with the layout but states whilst they 
have no objections to the layout subject to the provision of an Electric Vehicle charging 
point, what is concerning is the loss of three garages that are in use. However, this 
depends on whether the garages are used for storage or the parking of vehicles.

5.43 The applicant has confirmed that of the 6 garages 3 are void and the 3 garages that 
are rented out they are not to any of the surrounding properties and are used for 
storage and not parking of vehicles. As such the loss of these garages will not have an 
adverse impact on the surrounding highway network. Gravesham Highway Engineer 
after reviewing this additional information has confirmed on 12 September 2019 that no 
objection is raises to the proposal.

5.44 Subject to the condition relating to the surface treatment, marking out of parking 
spaces, electric chagrining infrastructure and details of lighting the proposal complies 
with local and national planning policy.

Page 46



Ecology and Biodiversity

5.45 The application site falls within 6km of the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special 
Protection Area (SPA) classified in accordance with the European Birds Directive 
which requires Member States to classify sites that are important for bird species listed 
on Annex 1 of the European Directive, which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European 
context, and also sites that form a critically important network for birds on migration.  It 
is also listed as a Wetland of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention 
(Ramsar Site).  Studies have shown marked declines in key bird species, particularly in 
areas that are busiest with recreational activity.  Research conducted in 2011 found 
that additional dwellings were likely to result in additional recreational activity, causing 
disturbance to protected bird species that over-winter or breed on the SPA and 
Ramsar Site.  The studies found that 75% of recreational visitors to the North Kent 
coast originate from within 6 km of the SPA boundary and Ramsar Site.  The impacts 
of recreational disturbance can be such that they affect the status and distribution of 
key bird species and therefore act against the stated conservation objectives of the 
European Sites.  

5.46 The Borough Council has mitigated out the impacts of this on each and every planning 
application for a new residential development of one or more units within the 6km zone 
since September 2015 by accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and Monitoring 
Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £245.56 per dwelling).  This approach is 
approved by Natural England for all new residential developments.

5.47 For every planning application for a new dwelling (including new flats) which does not 
require any other contributions to be secured through a s106 legal agreement or 
unilateral undertaking the tariff has been secured through a contribution agreement.

5.48 Irrespective of the above, a Court of Justice European Union (CJEU) ruling means a 
screening assessment as to whether the development either alone or in combination, 
is likely to have significant effects on a designated site is required.  The CJEU sees a 
distinction between “the plan or project” itself and “measures intended to avoid or 
reduce the harmful effects of a plan or project on a European site”. This means that 
mitigation measures, which are intended to avoid or reduce effects, should be 
assessed within the framework of an AA and cannot be taken into account at the 
screening stage.  

5.49 In this case a contribution (£245.56) has been provided by the applicants and a 
screening for Appropriate Assessment (AA) has been undertaken.

5.50 In introducing a new dwelling and area of soft landscaping, the development would 
afford an adequate opportunity for a bio-diversity net gain to be delivered.

6. Financial Considerations

6.1 In terms of other financial benefits, it is noted that these will accrue to the area as 
and when permissions are granted. The Government wishes to ensure that the 
decision making process for planning applications is a transparent as possible, so 
that local communities are more aware of the financial benefits that development 
can bring to their area. In this instance the proposed new residential units would 
generate the New Homes Bonus and Council Tax receipts. It is anticipated that 
Business Rate may be accrued form the commercial units. 

Page 47



7. Conclusion 

7.1 The proposal is a sustainable form of development that accords with national and local 
policy planning policy and will provide an acceptable scheme within the urban area of 
Gravesend.

7.2 The agent has agreed to all the pre-commencement conditions as set out in this report 
and permission is recommended.

________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be GRANTED Planning Permission, subject to 
the following conditions:

Time Limit

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with 
the following schedule of approved plans:
Drawing No. 18867-BR-SK-00 – Location Plan
Drawing No. 18867-BR-SK-E-01 – Existing Site Plan
Drawing No. 18867-BR-SK-01 Rev L – Proposed Site Plan
Drawing No. 18867-BR-SK-03 – Proposed Elevations
Drawing No. 18867-BR-SK-02 Rev C – Proposed Floor Plans

Reason: For the avoidance of any doubt and in the interest of proper planning in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Pre-commencement Conditions 

Contaminated Land

3. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a 
contaminated land assessment (in accordance with the CLEA guidelines and CLR 11 
methodology) and if necessary an associated remedial strategy, together with a timetable 
of works, being submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.

a)  A site investigation, based on the findings of the submitted Preliminary Investigation 
Report (Soils Limited, June 2019), shall be carried out by a suitably qualified and 
accredited consultant/contractor in accordance with a Quality Assured sampling and 
analysis methodology.

b)  A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and sampling on site, 
together with the results of analysis, risk assessment to any receptors and a proposed 

Page 48



remediation strategy shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  The Local 
Planning Authority shall approve such remedial works as required prior to any 
remediation commencing on site.  The works shall be of such a nature so as to render 
harmless the identified contamination given the proposed end-use of the site and 
surrounding environment including any controlled waters.

c)  Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on site under a quality 
assurance scheme to demonstrate compliance with the proposed methodology and best 
practice guidance).  If during any works contamination is encountered which has not 
previously been identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and 
an appropriate remediation scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.

d)  Upon completion of the works, this condition shall not be discharged until a closure 
report has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The closure 
report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and the quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with the 
approved methodology.  Details of any post remediation sampling and analysis to show 
the site has reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the closure report 
together with the necessary documentation detailing what waste materials have been 
removed from the site.

e)  Where applicable, a monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the 
long-term effectiveness of the proposed remediation over an agreed period of time, and 
the provision of reports on the same, must be prepared and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority.

Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme, and when the 
remediation objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness 
of the monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced and submitted to the 
local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with 
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Code of Construction Practice

4. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a comprehensive 
Code of Construction Practice covering all environmental impacts of this development is 
provided by the applicant and submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority.  
The approved scheme shall include details of hours of work during the construction 
period, delivery times for materials, parking of vehicles of site personnel and visitors, 
loading and unloading of plant and materials, storage of materials and wheel washing 
proposals; the development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Code of Construction Practice.

Reason: To ensure the free flow of traffic on the highway and to minimise the impact on 
residential amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: 
Core Strategy (September 2014).

Sustainable Surface Water Drainage

Page 49



5. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a scheme for 
sustainable surface water drainage has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The detailed drainage scheme submitted shall 

(i) demonstrate that both the rate and volume of run-off leaving the site post-
development will be restricted to that of the existing site during any rainfall event (up to 
and including the climate change adjusted 100yr critical storm)

(ii) demonstrate that the existing on-site surface water flow-routes and accumulation 
points will not be altered in such a way that the development places property at risk from 
flooding during any rainfall event, up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 
100yr storm,

(iii) demonstrate that infiltration features are not located on parts of the site where 
contamination might be present 

(iii)  include a timetable for its implementation, and

(iv) include a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable 
drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

The surface water drainage scheme shall thereafter be implemented in full prior to first 
residential occupation of the development and thereafter maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this 
proposal; to ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at risk from, 
or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions, in accordance 
with policies CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Prior to above ground works

Materials

6. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and application form before  
any above ground works commence, additional details (and samples where requested by 
the Local Planning Authority) of all the external facing materials to be used in the 
construction of the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To maintain the character and appearance of the building and to ensure a 
satisfactory visual relationship between the existing and new development in accordance 
with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Prior to occupation

Hard Surface and Boundary Treatments

7. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans a scheme of hard landscaping shall be submitted to 

Page 50



and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The landscaping works shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the completion of the 
development or the first occupation of the residential unit whichever is sooner.  The 
scheme shall include: 

 proposed boundary treatments, 
 proposed finished levels and contours, 
 hard surface finishes to the vehicle parking areas, pedestrian accesses, private 

gardens and amenity areas; 
 details of any retaining walls, steps, railings, walls, fencing, gates or other 

supporting structures
 details of the pedestrian and vehicular access  

Reason: To protect and enhance the visual amenity and the character of the area and to 
ensure a satisfactory environment for existing and future residents in accordance with 
Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Soft Landscaping Scheme 

8. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans a scheme detailing the proposed soft landscaping 
shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include the type and species of planting to be carried out, to include their 
quantity and size as well as arrangements for aftercare. Thereafter the approved soft 
landscaping scheme shall be carried out in full during the first available planting season 
following first occupation of the dwelling. Any trees or plants that die, are damaged, 
removed or become diseased within five years from the date that the development is first 
brought into use shall be replaced with a species of a similar size and species during the 
next available planting season. 

Reason: To ensure that the landscaping is maintained in the long term in the interests of 
the visual amenity of the development, in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Car Parking Spaces

9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved the vehicle parking 
areas shown on Drawing No. 18867-BR-SK-01 Rev L have been formed, surfaced, 
drained and marked out in accordance with a scheme first to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, notwithstanding the 
provisions of the Town and Country (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (as amended), or any provision equivalent to it in any statutory instrument revoking 
and re-enacting that Order, with or without modification, no development shall be carried 
out on the site in such a manner or in such a position as to preclude the use of or access 
to the reserved vehicle parking and turning areas.

Reason: To ensure sufficient off street car parking provision is available to serve the 
development, in accordance with Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core 
Strategy (September 2014) and saved Policy P3 of Gravesham Local Plan First Review 
(1994).

Refuse arrangements

10. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding 
details on the approved plans details of the refuse arrangements shall be submitted to 

Page 51



and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The submitted details shall 
ensure adequate provision for non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable waste 
and security arrangements for the refuse stores. The approved refuse arrangements 
shall be provided prior to first occupation of the dwelling and thereafter be retained for 
such purposes at all times. 

Reason: In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area 
in the interest of amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Electric Charging Points

11. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved details for provision of 
cabling to enable charging facilities to be installed for electric vehicles for the future 
occupants of the dwelling shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the first occupation of any of the residential units hereby 
approved to which the cabling applies.

Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable and more environmentally acceptable 
modes of transport, and in accordance with Policy CS11, CS18 and CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

External Lighting

 12. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of all proposed 
external lighting shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with these 
approved details.

Reason In order to ensure the development does not cause harm to residential amenity 
by reason of the installation of intrusive lighting and in accordance Policy CS19 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Permitted Development Rights (Extensions, Dormers, Outbuildings)

13. No development under the provisions of Article 3 of and Class A, B and E of Part 1 of 
Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 as amended (or any provision equivalent to that Class in any Statutory Instrument 
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) shall be carried out on the 
dwelling or within the garden unless a specific grant of planning permission has been 
given by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the development 
of the site in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core 
Strategy (September 2014).

INFORMATIVES:-

1 REASON FOR IMPOSITION OF PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS

2 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION- 
TAKING

Page 52



3 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION

4 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

5 SOUTHERN WATER

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



378

1

CR

133

259a

257

130

31.4m

269

100

88

Ward Bdy

147

57

16

85

67

261

350

120
29.9m

145

97

304

2

291

31.1m

62

368

326

112

109

LB

279

11

388

30

14

281

25

362

12
1

314

26

TH
ON

G 
LA

NE

35

259

14
a

338

2

14

CR
UD

EN
 RO

AD

22.6m

15

20190725
Land rear of 125 Barr Road,
DA12 4DX

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 20 4010 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:1,250

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20181111 - 14 Lawrance Square, Northfleet DA11 7HW
	5a 20181111 SITE PLAN 14 Lawrence Sq. DA11 7HW

	5b 20190724 - Land west of 16 - 18 Wilberforce Way, Gravesend DA12 5DQ
	5b 20190724  SITE PLAN Land West 16-18 Wilberforce Way

	5c 20190725 - Land to the rear of  125 Barr Road, Gravesend DA12 4DX
	5c 20190725  SITE PLAN Land rear or 125 Barr Road


